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The soul of the mind requires marvelously little to make it produce all that it envisages and employ all its reserve forces in order to be itself. . . . A few drops of ink and a sheet of paper, as material allowing for the accumulation and co-ordination of moments and acts, are enough.


—PAUL VALÉRY, Degas Dance Drawing


In Eternity All is Vision.


—WILLIAM BLAKE
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THE RORSCHACH TEST USES TEN and only ten inkblots, originally created by Hermann Rorschach and reproduced on cardboard cards. Whatever else they are, they are probably the ten most interpreted and analyzed paintings of the twentieth century. Millions of people have been shown the real cards; most of the rest of us have seen versions of the inkblots in advertising, fashion, or art. The blots are everywhere—and at the same time a closely guarded secret.


The Ethics Code of the American Psychological Association requires that psychologists keep test materials “secure.” Many psychologists who use the Rorschach feel that revealing the images ruins the test, even harms the general public by depriving it of a valuable diagnostic technique. Most of the Rorschach blots we see in everyday life are imitations or remakes, in deference to the psychology community. Even in academic articles or museum exhibitions, the blots are usually reproduced in outline, blurred, or modified to reveal something about the images but not everything.


The publisher of this book and I had to decide whether or not to reproduce the real inkblots: which choice would be most respectful to clinical psychologists, potential patients, and readers. There is no clear consensus among Rorschach researchers—about almost anything to do with the test—but the manual for the most state-of-the-art Rorschach testing system in use today states that “simply having previous exposure to the inkblots does not compromise an assessment.” In any case, the question is largely moot now that the images are out of copyright and up on the internet. They are easily available already—a fact that many of the psychologists opposed to publicizing the images seem to want to ignore. We eventually chose to include some of the inkblots in this book, but not all.


It has to be emphasized, though, that seeing the images reproduced online—or here—is not the same as taking the actual test. The size of the cards matters (about 9.5" × 6.5"), the white space, the horizontal format, the fact that you can hold them in your hand and turn them around. The situation matters: the experience of taking a test with real stakes, having to say your answers out loud to someone you either trust or don’t trust. And the test is too subtle and technical to score without extensive training. There is no Do-It-Yourself Rorschach, and you can’t try it out on a friend, even apart from the ethical problem of possibly discovering sides of their personality that they may not want to reveal.


It has always been tempting to use the inkblots as a parlor game. But every expert on the test since Rorschach himself has insisted it isn’t one. They’re right. The reverse is true, too: the parlor game, online or elsewhere, is not the test. You can see for yourself how the inkblots look, but you can’t, on your own, feel how they work.




INTRODUCTION
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Tea Leaves


VICTOR NORRIS* HAD REACHED THE final round of applying for a job working with young children, but, this being America at the turn of the twenty-first century, he still had to undergo a psychological evaluation. Over two long November afternoons, he spent eight hours at the office of Caroline Hill, an assessment psychologist working in Chicago.


Norris had seemed an ideal candidate in interviews, charming and friendly with a suitable résumé and unimpeachable references. Hill liked him. His scores were normal to high on the cognitive tests she gave him, including an IQ well above average. On the most common personality test in America, a series of 567 yes-or-no questions called the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory, or MMPI, he was cooperative and in good spirits. Those results, too, came back normal.


When Hill showed him a series of pictures with no captions and asked him to tell her a story about what was happening in each one—another standard assessment called the Thematic Apperception Test, or TAT—Norris gave answers that were a bit obvious, but harmless enough. The stories were pleasant, with no inappropriate ideas, and he had no anxiety or other signs of discomfort in the telling.


As early Chicago darkness set in at the end of the second afternoon, Hill asked Norris to move from the desk to a low chair near the couch in her office. She pulled her chair in front of his, took out a yellow legal pad and a thick folder, and handed him, one by one, a series of ten cardboard cards from the folder, each with a symmetrical blot on it. As she handed him each card, she said: “What might this be?” or “What do you see?”
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Rorschach Test, Card I








Five of the cards were in black and white, two had red shapes as well, and three were multicolored. For this test, Norris was asked not to tell a story, not to describe what he felt, but simply to say what he saw. No time limit, no instructions about how many responses he should give. Hill stayed out of the picture as much as possible, letting Norris reveal not just what he saw in the inkblots but how he approached the task. He was free to pick up each card, turn it around, hold it at arm’s length or up close. Any questions he asked were deflected:





Can I turn it around?


It’s up to you.


Should I try to use all of it?


Whatever you like. Different people see different things.


Is that the right answer?


There are all sorts of answers.





After he had responded to all ten cards, Hill went back for a second pass: “Now I’m going to read back what you said, and I want you to show me where you saw it.”


Norris’s answers were shocking: elaborate, violent sexual scenes with children; parts of the inkblots seen as female being punished or destroyed. Hill politely sent him on his way—he left her office with a firm handshake and a smile, looking her straight in the eye—then she turned to the legal pad facedown on her desk, with the record of his responses. She systematically assigned Norris’s responses the various codes of the standard method and categorized his answers as typical or unusual using the long lists in the manual. She then calculated the formulas that would turn all those scores into psychological judgments: dominant personality style, Egocentricity Index, Flexibility of Thinking Index, the Suicide Constellation. As Hill expected, her calculations showed Norris’s scores to be as extreme as his answers.


If nothing else, the Rorschach test had prompted Norris to show a side of himself he didn’t otherwise let show. He was perfectly aware that he was undergoing an evaluation, for a job he wanted. He knew how he wanted to come across in interviews and what kind of bland answers to give on the other tests. On the Rorschach, his persona broke down. Even more revealing than the specific things he had seen in the inkblots was the fact that he had felt free to say them.


This was why Hill used the Rorschach. It’s a strange and open-ended task, where it is not at all clear what the inkblots are supposed to be or how you’re expected to respond to them. Crucially, it’s a visual task, so it gets around your defenses and conscious strategies of self-presentation. You can manage what you want to say but you can’t manage what you want to see. Victor Norris couldn’t even manage what he wanted to say about what he’d seen. In that he was typical. Hill had learned a rule of thumb in grad school that she had repeatedly seen confirmed in practice: a troubled personality can often keep it together on an IQ test and an MMPI, do pretty well on a TAT, then fall apart when faced with the inkblots. When someone is faking health or sickness, or intentionally or unintentionally suppressing other sides of their personality, the Rorschach might be the only assessment to raise a red flag.


Hill didn’t put in her report that Norris was a past or future child molester—no psychological test has the power to determine that. She did conclude that Norris’s “hold on reality was extremely vulnerable.” She couldn’t recommend him for a job working with children and advised the employers not to hire him. They didn’t.


Norris’s disturbing results and the contrast between his charming surface and hidden dark side stayed with Hill. Eleven years after giving that test, she got a phone call from a therapist who was working with a patient named Victor Norris and had a few questions he wanted to ask her. He didn’t have to say the patient’s name twice. Hill was not at liberty to share the details of Norris’s results, but she laid out the main findings. The therapist gasped. “You got that from a Rorschach test? It took me two years of sessions to get to that stuff! I thought the Rorschach was tea leaves!”


DESPITE DECADES OF controversy, the Rorschach test today is admissible in court, reimbursed by medical insurance companies, and administered around the world in job evaluations, custody battles, and psychiatric clinics. To the test’s supporters, these ten inkblots are a marvelously sensitive and accurate tool for showing how the mind works and detecting a range of mental conditions, including latent problems that other tests or direct observation can’t reveal. To the test’s critics, both within and outside the psychology community, its continued use is a scandal, an embarrassing vestige of pseudoscience that should have been written off years ago along with truth serum and primal-scream therapy. In their view, the test’s amazing power is its ability to brainwash otherwise sensible people into believing in it.


Partly because of this lack of professional consensus, and more because of a suspicion of psychological testing in general, the public tends to be skeptical about the Rorschach. The father in a recent well-publicized “shaken baby” case, who was eventually found innocent in the death of his infant son, thought the assessments he was subjected to were “perverse” and particularly “resented” being given the Rorschach. “I was looking at pictures, abstract art, and telling them what I was seeing. Do I see a butterfly here? Does that mean I’m aggressive and abusive? It’s insane.” He insisted that while he “put stock in science,” which he called an “essentially male” worldview, the social services agency evaluating him had an “essentially female” worldview that “privileged relationships and feelings.” The Rorschach test is in fact neither essentially female nor an exercise in art interpretation, but such attitudes are typical. It doesn’t yield a cut-and-dried number like an IQ test or a blood test. But then nothing that tries to grasp the human mind could.


The Rorschach’s holistic ambitions are one reason why it is so well known beyond the doctor’s office or courtroom. Social Security is a Rorschach test, according to Bloomberg, as is the year’s Georgia Bulldogs football schedule (Sports Blog Nation) and Spanish bond yields: “a sort of financial-market Rorschach test, in which analysts see whatever is on their own minds at the time” (Wall Street Journal). The latest Supreme Court decision, the latest shooting, the latest celebrity wardrobe malfunction. “The controversial impeachment of Paraguay’s president, Fernando Lugo, is quickly turning into a kind of Rorschach test of Latin American politics,” in which “the reactions to it say more than the event does itself,” says a New York Times blog. One movie reviewer impatient with art-house pretension called Sexual Chronicles of a French Family a Rorschach test that he’d failed.


This last joke trades on the essence of the Rorschach in the popular imagination: It’s the test you can’t fail. There are no right or wrong answers. You can see whatever you want. This is what has made the test perfect shorthand, since the sixties, for a culture suspicious of authority, committed to respecting all opinions. Why should a news outlet say whether an impeachment or a budget proposal is good or bad, and risk alienating half of its readers or viewers? Just call it a Rorschach test.


The underlying message is always the same: You are entitled to your own take, irrespective of the truth; your reaction is what matters, whether expressed in a like, a poll, or a purchase. This metaphor for freedom of interpretation coexists in a kind of alternate universe from the literal test given to actual patients, defendants, and job applicants by actual psychologists. In those situations, there are very real right and wrong answers.
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Bergdorf Goodman window, Fifth Avenue, New York City, spring 2011





The Rorschach is a useful metaphor, but the inkblots also just look good. They’re in style for reasons having nothing to do with psychology or journalism—maybe it’s the sixty-year fashion cycle since the last burst of Rorschach fever in the fifties, maybe it’s a fondness for forceful black-and-white color schemes that look good with midcentury modern furniture. A few years ago, Bergdorf Goodman filled its Fifth Avenue windows with Rorschach displays. Rorschach-style T-shirts were recently on sale at Saks, only $98. “MY STRATEGY,” proclaimed a full-page splash in InStyle: “This season I’m finding myself very attracted to clothes and accessories that have a sense of symmetry. MY INSPIRATION: The patterns of Rorschach inkblots are spellbinding.” The horror-thriller Hemlock Grove, the science fiction cloning thriller Orphan Black, and a Harlem-based tattoo-shop reality show called Black Ink Crew debuted on TV with Rorschachy credit sequences. The video for Rolling Stone’s #1 Best Song of the 2000s and the first single ever to hit the top of the charts from internet sales, Gnarls Barkley’s “Crazy,” was a mesmerizing animation of morphing black-and-white blots. Rorschach mugs and plates, aprons and party games are available everywhere.


Most of these are imitation inkblots, but the ten originals, now approaching their hundredth birthday, endure. They have what Hermann Rorschach called the “spatial rhythm” necessary to give the images a “pictorial quality.” Created in the birthplace of modern abstract art, their precursors go back to the nineteenth-century brew that gave rise to both modern psychology and abstraction, and their influence reaches across twentieth- and twenty-first-century art and design.


In other words: three different histories spill together into the story of the Rorschach test.


First, there is the rise, fall, and reinvention of psychological testing, with all its uses and abuses. Experts in anthropology, education, business, law, and the military have also long tried to gain access to the mysteries of unknown minds. The Rorschach is not the only personality test, but for decades it was the ultimate one: as defining of the profession as the stethoscope was for general medicine. Throughout its history, how psychologists use the Rorschach has been emblematic of what we, as a society, expect psychology to do.


Then there is art and design, from Surrealist paintings to “Crazy” to Jay-Z, who put a gold Andy Warhol blot painting called Rorschach on the cover of his memoir. This visual history seems unrelated to medical diagnosis—there’s not much psychology in those Saks shirts—but the iconic look is inseparable from the real test. The agency that pitched a Rorschach-themed video for “Crazy” got the job because singer CeeLo Green remembered having been given the test as a troubled child. Controversy gathers around the Rorschach because of its prominence. It’s impossible to draw a hard and fast line between the psychological assessment and the inkblots’ place in the culture.


Finally, there is the cultural history that has led to all those metaphorical “Rorschach tests” in the news: the rise of an individualistic culture of personality in the early twentieth century; widespread suspicion of authority beginning in the sixties; intractable polarization today, with even facts seeming to depend on the eye of the beholder. From the Nuremberg Trials to the jungles of Vietnam, from Hollywood to Google, from the community-centered social fabric of nineteenth-century life to the longing for connection in the socially fragmented twenty-first, Rorschach’s ten blots have run alongside, or anticipated, much of our history. When yet another journalist calls something a Rorschach test, it may be just a handy cliché, the same way it is perfectly natural for artists and designers to turn to striking, symmetrical patterns of black on white. No single instance of the Rorschach in everyday life requires any explanation. But its lasting presence in our collective imagination does.


For many years, the test was hyped as an X-ray of the soul. It’s not, and it wasn’t originally meant to be, but it is a uniquely revealing window on the ways we understand our world.


ALL OF THESE STRANDS—psychology, art, and cultural history—lead back to the creator of the inkblots. “The method and the personality of its creator are inextricably interwoven,” as the editor wrote in the preface to Psychodiagnostics, the 1921 book that introduced the inkblots to the world. It was a young Swiss psychiatrist and amateur artist, tinkering with a children’s game, working alone, who managed to create not only an enormously influential psychological test but a visual and cultural touchstone.


Hermann Rorschach, born in 1884, was “a tall, lean, blond man, swift of motion, gestures, and speech, with an expressive and vivid physiognomy.” (See photographs in the insert.) If you think he looks like Brad Pitt, maybe with a little Robert Redford thrown in, you are not the first. His patients tended to fall for him too. He was open-hearted and sympathetic, talented but modest, sturdy and handsome in his white doctor’s robe, his short life filled with tragedy, passion, and discovery.


Modernity was erupting around him, from the Europe of World War I and the Russian Revolution and from within the mind itself. In Switzerland alone, during Rorschach’s career there, Albert Einstein invented modern physics and Vladimir Lenin invented modern communism while working with the labor organizers in Swiss watch factories. Lenin’s next-door neighbors in Zurich, the Dadaists, invented modern art, Le Corbusier modern architecture, Rudolf von Laban modern dance. Rainer Maria Rilke finished his Duino Elegies, Rudolf Steiner created Waldorf schools, an artist named Johannes Itten invented seasonal colors (“Are you a spring or a winter?”). In psychiatry, Carl Jung and his colleagues created the modern psychological test. Jung’s and Sigmund Freud’s explorations of the unconscious mind were battling for dominance, both among a wealthy neurotic clientele and in the real world of Swiss hospitals filled far past capacity.


These revolutions crossed paths in Hermann Rorschach’s life and career, but despite tens of thousands of studies of the test, no full-length biography of Rorschach has ever been written. A historian of psychiatry named Henri Ellenberger published a sketchily sourced forty-page biographical article in 1954, and that has been the basis for nearly every account of Rorschach since: as pioneering genius, bumbling dilettante, megalomaniac visionary, responsible scientist, and just about everything in between. Speculation has swirled around Rorschach’s life for decades. People could see in it whatever they wanted to see.


The true story deserves to be told, not least because it helps to explain the test’s enduring relevance despite the controversies that have surrounded it. Rorschach predicted most of the controversies himself. This double biography of the doctor and his inkblots begins in Switzerland but reaches around the globe, and down into the core of what we are doing every time we look and see.





* Names and identifying details in this story have been changed.





1
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All Becomes Movement and Life


ONE LATE DECEMBER MORNING IN 1910, Hermann Rorschach, twenty-six years old, woke up early. He walked across the cold room and pushed the bedroom curtain aside, letting in the pale white light that comes before a late northern sunrise—not enough to wake his wife, just enough to reveal her face and the thick black hair spilling out from under their comforter. It had snowed in the night, as he’d thought it would. Lake Constance had been gray for weeks; the water’s blue was months away, but the world was beautiful like this, too, with no one in sight along the shore or on the little path in front of their tidy two-room apartment. The scene was not just empty of human movement but drained of color, like a penny postcard, a landscape in black and white.


He lit his first cigarette of the morning, boiled some coffee, dressed, and left quietly as Olga slept. It was a busier week than usual at the clinic, with Christmas around the corner. There were only three doctors to look after four hundred patients, so he and the others were responsible for everything: staff meetings, visiting the patients on twice-daily rounds, organizing special events. Still, Rorschach let himself enjoy the morning’s solitary walk through the clinic grounds. The notebook he always carried with him stayed in his pocket. It was cold, though nothing compared to the Christmas he’d spent in Moscow four years earlier.


Rorschach was especially looking forward to the holiday this year: he and Olga were reunited; they would be sharing a tree as husband and wife for the first time. The clinic celebration would be on the twenty-third; on the twenty-fourth, the doctors would carry a small tree lit with candles from one building to another, for the patients who couldn’t join in the communal ceremony. On the twenty-fifth the Rorschachs would be free to go back to his childhood home and pay a visit to his stepmother. This he tried to put out of his mind.


Christmas season at the asylum meant group singing three times a week, and dance classes run by a male nurse who played a guitar, a harmonica, and a triangle with his foot, all at the same time. Rorschach didn’t like to dance, but for Olga’s sake he forced himself to take lessons. One Christmastime duty he truly enjoyed was directing the holiday plays. They were staging three this year, including one with projected images—photographs of landscapes and people from the clinic. What a surprise it would be for the patients to suddenly see faces they knew on the screen, larger than life.


Many of the patients were too far gone to thank their relatives for Christmas presents, so Rorschach wrote little notes on their behalf, sometimes fifteen a day. On the whole, though, his patients liked the holidays as much as their troubled souls allowed. Rorschach’s adviser used to tell the story of a patient so dangerous and unruly she had been kept in a cell for years. Her hostility was understandable in the restrictive, coercive clinical environment, but when she was taken to a Christmas celebration she behaved perfectly, reciting the poems she had memorized especially for January 2, Berchtold Day. Two weeks later she was released.


He tried to apply his teacher’s lessons here. He took photos of his patients, not only for his own sake and for the patient files, but because they liked posing for the camera. He gave them art supplies: pencil and paper, papier-mâché, modeling clay.


As Rorschach’s feet crunched the snow on the clinic’s grounds, his thoughts on new ways to give his patients something to enjoy, he would naturally have mused on the holidays of his own childhood and the games he had played then: sled races, capture the castle, hare and hounds, hide-and-seek, and the game where you spill some ink on a sheet of paper, fold it in half, and see what it looks like.


HERMANN RORSCHACH WAS born in November of 1884, a light-bringing year. The Statue of Liberty, officially titled Liberty Enlightening the World, was presented to the US ambassador in Paris on America’s Independence Day. Temesvár in Austria-Hungary became the first city in continental Europe with electric streetlights, put up not long after those in Newcastle, England, and Wabash, Indiana. George Eastman patented the first workable roll of photographic film, which would soon let anyone make pictures with “the Pencil of Nature” by capturing light itself.


Those years, of early photography and primitive movies, are probably the hardest era in history for us, today, to see: in our mind’s eye, everything then looks stiff and rickety, black and white. But Zurich, where Rorschach was born, was a modern, dynamic city, the largest in Switzerland. Its railway station dates from 1871, the famous main shopping street from 1867, the quays along the Limmat River from midcentury. And November in Zurich is shocks of orange and yellow under a gray sky: oak and elm leaves, fire-red maples rustling in the wind. Back then, too, the people of Zurich lived under pale blue skies, hiked through bright alpine meadows dotted with deep blue gentian and edelweiss.


Rorschach was not born where his family had been rooted for centuries: Arbon, a town on Lake Constance some fifty miles east. A small town called Rorschach is four miles past Arbon down the coast of the lake, and that must have been the family’s place of origin, but the Rorschachs could trace their ancestors in Arbon back to 1437, and the history of the “Roschachs” there reaches back another thousand years, to A.D. 496. This was not so unusual in a place where people stayed put for generations, where you were a citizen of your canton (state) and city as well as country. A few ancestors roamed—one great-great-uncle, Hans Jakob Roschach (1764–1837), known as “the Lisboner,” made it as far as Portugal, where he worked as a designer and perhaps created some of the mesmerizing, repeating patterns for the tiles that cover the capital city. But it was Hermann’s parents who truly broke away.


Hermann’s father, Ulrich, a painter, was born on April 11, 1853, twelve days after another future painter, Vincent van Gogh. The son of a weaver, Ulrich left home at age fifteen to study art in Germany, traveling as far as the Netherlands. He returned to Arbon to open a painter’s studio and in 1882 married a woman named Philippine Wiedenkeller (born February 9, 1854), from a line of carpenters and boatmen with a long history of marrying Rorschachs.


The couple’s first child, Klara, born in 1883, died at six weeks old, and Philippine’s twin sister died four months later. After these hard blows the couple sold the studio and moved to Zurich, where Ulrich enrolled at the School of Applied Arts in the fall of 1884. For Ulrich to move to the city at age thirty-one, with no stable income, was unusual in staid Switzerland, but he and Philippine must have been eager to have their next child in happier surroundings. Hermann was born at 278 Haldenstrasse, in Wiedikon (Zurich), at 10 p.m. on November 8. Ulrich did well in art school and got a good job as a middle school drawing and painting teacher in Schaffhausen, a city some thirty miles north. By Hermann’s second birthday, the family was settled where he would grow up.


Schaffhausen is a small, picturesque city full of Renaissance buildings and fountains, situated on the Rhine, the river that forms the northern border of Switzerland. “On the banks of the Rhine, meadows alternate with forests whose trees are reflected, dreamlike, in the dark green water,” says a guidebook from the time. House numbers had not been introduced yet, so each building had a name—the Palm Branch, the Knight’s House, the Fountain—and distinctive decorations: stone lions, painted facades, bay windows jutting out like giant cuckoo clocks, gargoyles, cupids.


The city was not stuck in the past. The Munot, an imposing circular fortress on a vineyard-covered hill with a moat and a grand view, dating from the sixteenth century, had been restored for tourism in the nineteenth. The railroad had arrived, and a new electricity plant was exploiting the river’s plentiful water power. The Rhine poured out of Lake Constance at the Rhine Falls nearby, low but wide enough to be the largest waterfall in Europe. The English painter J. M. W. Turner drew and painted the falls for forty years, showing the water massive like a mountain and the mountains themselves dissolving in whirlpools of paint and light; Mary Shelley described standing on the lowest platform while “the spray fell thickly on us . . . looking up, we saw wave, and rock, and cloud, and the clear heavens through its glittering ever-moving veil. This was a new sight, exceeding anything I had ever before seen.” As the guidebook put it: “A heavy mountain of water hurls itself at you like a dark fate; it plummets, and all that was solid becomes movement and life.”


After Hermann’s sister Anna was born in Schaffhausen, on August 10, 1888, the growing family rented a new house on the Geissberg, a steep twenty-minute hike uphill out of town to the west, where Hermann’s brother, Paul, would be born (December 10, 1891). The house was roomier, with larger windows and a mansard roof, more French château than Swiss chalet, and with forests and fields to explore nearby. The landlord’s children became Hermann’s playmates. Inspired by James Fenimore Cooper’s Leatherstocking adventures, they played pioneers and Indians, with Hermann and his friends slinking through the trees around a nearby gravel quarry and making off with Anna, the only “white woman” they had.


This was the setting of the children’s happiest memories. Hermann liked to listen to the roar of the ocean he had never seen, in a seashell a missionary relative of their landlord had brought back from abroad. He built wooden mazes for his pet white mice to run through. When he came down with the measles at age eight or nine, his father cut out enchanting tissue-paper puppets and Hermann made them dance in a glass-lid box. On walks, Ulrich told his children the history of the city’s beautiful old buildings and fountains and the meaning of the images they bore; he took them butterfly hunting, read to them, taught them the names of the flowers and trees. Paul was growing into a lively, chubby little boy, while Hermann, according to a cousin, “could look at something for a very long time, absorbed in his thoughts. He was a well-behaved child, quiet like his father.” This cousin told the nine-year-old Hermann fairy tales—Hansel and Gretel, Rapunzel, Rumpelstiltskin—“which he liked because he was a dreamer.”


Philippine Rorschach, warm and energetic, liked to entertain her children with old folk songs and was an excellent cook: pudding with cream and fruit was a favorite with the children, and every year she would throw a pig roast for all of her husband’s colleagues. Ulrich’s own parents had fought bitterly, to the point where Ulrich felt they had never loved each other; it was important to him to create a loving home for his children, the kind he had never had. With Philippine he did. You could joke with her—light a firecracker under her wide skirts, as Hermann’s cousin remembered having happened once—and she would join in the laughter.


Ulrich, too, was respected and genuinely liked among colleagues and students. He had a minor speech impediment, probably a lisp, “which he could, however, overcome when he tried.” It made him unusually reserved, but he was kindhearted to students during exams, giving hand and head signals and whispered encouragement. “I can still see this modest man, so ready to help, before my eyes more than half a century later,” one student would recall. Or else he would spend half an hour correcting a student’s drawing, patiently making line after line, erasing the student’s wrong efforts, “until finally the picture stood before me, not differing from the model in any way. His memory for forms was astonishing; his lines were absolutely sure and true.”


Though artists in Switzerland were not trained at universities or given a liberal arts education, Ulrich was a broadly cultured man. In his twenties he had published a small compilation of poetry, Wildflowers: Poems for Heart and Mind, writing many of the poems himself. His daughter Anna claimed he knew Sanskrit—and whether he had somehow learned it or spoke fake Sanskrit to fool the kids and amuse himself says much the same thing about him.


In his spare time, he wrote a hundred-page “Outline of a Theory of Form, by Ulr. Rorschach, Drawing Teacher.” This was not a collection of middle school lecture notes or exercises but a treatise, opening with “Space and Spatial Apportionment” and “Time and Temporal Divisions.” “Light and Color” eventually moved into “the primary forms, created by concentration, rotation, and crystallization,” and then Ulrich set out on “an orienting stroll through the realm of Form”: thirty pages of a kind of encyclopedia of the visual world. Part II covered “The Laws of Form”—rhythm, direction, and proportion—which Ulrich found in everything from music, leaves, and the human body to Greek sculpture, modern turbines, and armies. “Who among us,” Ulrich mused, “has not often and with pleasure turned our eyes and imagination to the ever-changing shapes and movements of the clouds and the mist?” The manuscript ended by discussing human psychology: our consciousness, too, Ulrich wrote, is ruled by the basic laws of form. It was a deep and thoughtful work, not of much practical use.


After three or four years in the house on the Geissberg, the Rorschachs moved back into the city, to a new residential area near the Munot fortress, closer to the children’s school. Hermann was active, a good ice skater, and there were sledding parties where the children would link their sleds together in a long line and ride down the hill around the Munot on wide streets into the city, before there were too many cars. Ulrich wrote a play that was performed on the roof terrace of the Munot with Anna and Hermann as actors; another time, he was commissioned to design a new flag for a Schaffhausen club, and the children looked for wildflowers for him to use as models. Afterward they were delighted to look up at the flag embroidered with his design in the colors of their poppies and cornflowers. Hermann, for his part, showed skill from an early age in drawing landscapes, plants, and people. From woodcarving, cutouts, and sewing to novels, plays, and architecture, his childhood was a creative one.
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Charcoal drawings by Ulrich Rorschach
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Hermann, ca. 1903








In the summer of 1897, when Hermann was twelve, his mother Philippine came down with diabetes. In an age before insulin treatments, she died after four bedridden weeks of terrible, constant thirst. The family was devastated. A series of housekeepers moved in to help, but none fit in. The children especially despised one ostentatiously religious woman who spent all her time proselytizing.


On an evening a little before Christmas in 1898, Ulrich walked into the children’s playroom with an announcement to make: they would soon have a new mother. And no stranger, but Aunt Regina. Ulrich had chosen to marry one of Philippine’s younger half sisters, Hermann’s godmother; Hermann and Anna had spent vacations with her in Arbon, where she had a little store selling fabrics and textiles. She would be coming to Schaffhausen over Christmas, Ulrich said, for a visit. Anna started screaming; young Paul burst into tears. Fourteen-year-old Hermann stayed calm and reasoned with his siblings: they should think of Father, this was no life for him, with no happy home to return to at the end of the day. Naturally he didn’t want these housekeepers turning his children into sanctimonious little hypocrites. Everything, Hermann said, would be fine.


The marriage took place in April 1899, and a new child was born less than a year later. She was named Regina, the same as her mother, and called Regineli. The siblings welcomed their new half sister “and had several peaceful, lovely, harmonious months together,” in Anna’s words—“but alas only months.”


Ulrich may already have had symptoms more severe than a lisp: his hand shaking at school when he took off his hat, to the point where his students made fun of his palsy. After Regineli’s birth, he began suffering from fatigue and dizzy spells, diagnosed as a neurological disease resulting from lead poisoning when he was a journeyman painter. Within months, he had to give up his teaching, and the family moved one last time, to Säntisstrasse 5, where Regina opened a store in the building so she could support the family while staying home to care for Ulrich. Hermann started tutoring Latin to bring in some extra money and hurried home from school every day to help his stepmother look after his father.


Ulrich’s last years were filled with what his obituary called “unspeakable torments”: depression, delusions, and bitter, senseless self-recriminations. Hermann was with his father much of the time toward the end and came down with a severe lung infection exacerbated by the stress and strain. When Ulrich died, at four in the morning on June 8, 1903, Hermann was too sick to attend the funeral. His father was buried in the cemetery between the Munot and Hermann’s school, a few steps away from their house down a pretty, tree-lined path. He was fifty; Hermann was eighteen, his siblings fourteen, eleven, and three. Helplessly watching his father’s illness and death made Hermann want to become a doctor, a neurologist. But for now he was an orphan, his stepmother widowed, without a pension, a single mother of four.


Anna’s fears of a wicked stepmother soon proved justified. Regina was rigid, strict to the point of cruelty. Hermann’s cousin later described her as “all work and no ideals,” thinking only about how to make a living: she had married late, at age thirty-seven, “because she was a shop girl for thirty years and knew nothing else.” Whereas Philippine Rorschach had been a firstborn child and her husband’s first wife, Regina was a stepmother’s daughter, a second wife, and a stepmother to three willful children with personalities very different from her own.


She fought often with Paul and made life miserable for curious, outgoing Anna, who now felt the family home was “narrow and constraining, with almost no air to breathe.” Anna later described Regina as “like a chicken with short wings that cannot fly. She had no wings of imagination.” The house under her miserly regime was kept cold, with the children’s hands sometimes literally turning blue. They had no time to play, their free time devoted to working or doing chores.


Hermann, still in high school, had to grow up fast. When Anna looked back on her childhood, she remembered Hermann as being “father and mother both” to her. At the same time, he was Regina’s main support, the man of the house, who would sit and talk to her for hours in the kitchen. He understood Regina and her inability to show more love—“I am afraid that, in her timid pride, she has never been able to make an attachment to anyone”—and he urged Anna and Paul not to be too critical of her. They should forgive what they could and think of little Regineli.


All of this left Hermann little time for his own grief. He would later admit to Anna, “I think back about Father and Mother—our real mother—much more than before; I maybe didn’t feel Father’s early death six years ago as deeply as I feel it now.” It also made him eager to get away. Hermann would come to think of “all this scrambling and clawing and sweeping the floors, everything that sucks away so much life and kills off so infinitely much vitality,” as “the Schaffhausen mind-set.” As he wrote to Anna, “None of us can even consider living with Mother for any length of time. She has great and good qualities, and deserves the highest praise, but—life with her demands too much silence, it’s not for people like us who need freedom to move.”


All three of Ulrich and Philippine’s children would eventually travel far more widely than their parents, and Hermann was the first to set out. “We have a talent for living, you and me,” Hermann continued to Anna: “We inherited it from Father . . . and all we have to do is keep it, we have to. In Schaffhausen that kind of talent is completely strangled, it struggles and thrashes around for a moment and then it’s dead. But, God knows, that’s why we have the world! So that there’s somewhere to let our talents unfold.”


By the time he wrote this, Hermann had escaped. But his years in Schaffhausen, though full of upheaval, were important ones for Hermann’s development as a thinker—and an artist.
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Klex


IN A TWIST OF FATE that seems too good to be true, Rorschach’s nickname in school was “Klex,” the German word for “inkblot.” Was young Blot Rorschach already tinkering with ink, his destiny foretold?


Nicknames were important in German and Swiss-German fraternities, which students joined while attending the six-year elite academic high school called the Gymnasium. A fraternity brother swore an oath of friendship and fidelity and was a member for life, with the connections he made there often greasing the wheels of his whole career. In Schaffhausen, social life was dominated by the fraternity of Scaphusia (the city’s Roman name). Scaphusia members, Rorschach included, wore blue and white with pride on the school grounds, in the bars, and on the hiking trails. They also bore the new name they had received to mark their new identity.


Scaphusia initiations took place at a local bar, in total darkness except for a single candle mounted on a human skull. The initiate, known as the Fox, a fourth-year student sixteen or seventeen years old, stood on a crate filled with the club’s fencing equipment, a mug of beer in each hand, and answered a tough round of questions. In Switzerland the hazing was no worse than that; at German universities the fencing was with real blades, resulting in the famous Heidelberg dueling scars that marked the faces of the German elite for life. When the Scaphusia Fox passed the test, he got his “beer baptism”—the two mugs poured over his head, or disposed of as usual—and a name: some obvious in-joke about his physical appearance or proclivities. Rorschach’s fraternity sponsor was “Chimney” Müller, because he smoked like one; Chimney’s sponsor was “Baal,” a womanizing rich devil.


Hermann’s new name Klex meant he was handy with pen and ink, someone who drew quickly and well. Klexen or klecksen also means “to daub, to paint mediocre paintings”—one of Rorschach’s favorite artists, Wilhelm Busch, was the author of an illustrated children’s book called Maler Klecksel, something like “Smudgy the Painter”—but Rorschach was being praised as a good artist, not teased as a bad one. Another Fox nicknamed Klex, in a different fraternity at around the same time, was also good at drawing and later became an architect.


So “Klex” did not mean “inkblot” in Scaphusia, though maybe it made an inkblot slightly more likely to come to mind as Rorschach strolled through the grounds of his asylum a decade later, trying to dream up ways to establish a connection with his schizophrenic patients. Either way, what mattered was Klex Rorschach being a Klex at all: an artist, with a visual sensibility.


RORSCHACH ATTENDED THE Schaffhausen Gymnasium from 1898 to 1904—from the year after his mother’s death until the year after his father’s. There were 170 students, fourteen in Rorschach’s class, and the school was known as the best in the region, attracting students from other parts of Switzerland, even Italy, along with liberal-minded, democratically inclined professors from authoritarian Germany. The curriculum was demanding, including analytic geometry, spherical trigonometry, and advanced courses in qualitative analysis and physics. Students read Sophocles, Thucydides, Tacitus, Horace, Catullus, Molière, Hugo, Goethe, Lessing, and Dickens in the original, and the Russian masters in translation: Turgenev, Tolstoy, Dostoyevsky, Chekhov.


Rorschach did well in school without ever seeming to try very hard. He was ranked near the top of his class across all subjects; he learned English, French, and Latin in addition to his native Swiss dialect and standard German and would later teach himself Italian and fluent Russian. Socially he was reserved, a wallflower at school dances, preferring to hand out his visiting card and look on rather than risk the complex figures and maneuvers of the popular dance of the time, the Munot Tower (“Right hand, left hand, one, two, three”). He liked to work in a quiet environment and resented interruptions. Hermann’s best friend in school, an extraverted future lawyer named Walter Im Hof, felt “it was my role to bring him out a little”; others agreed that socializing and drinking parties with his classmates did Hermann good. But Hermann and his more outgoing brother Paul also played pranks, which Hermann would remember with delight long afterward. He got out into nature whenever he could—hiking in the mountains, rowing in the lakes, swimming nude.


Financial worries were a constant preoccupation. Most of Rorschach’s classmates came from wealthy and, in some cases, quite prominent families. The International Watch Company, still well known today as IWC Schaffhausen, had been founded in the city by an already wealthy manufacturer, and the founder’s daughter, Emma Rauschenbach—Carl Jung’s future wife—was one of the richest heiresses in Switzerland. In that prosperous milieu, Hermann Rorschach was noticeably poor. One classmate wrongly thought Rorschach’s stepmother was a “washerwoman” who “must have had to work very, very hard to put the boy through school”; the classmate’s patrician mother looked down on Rorschach and his family as lower class. Another schoolmate said Rorschach looked like a country bumpkin, “but” was intelligent anyway. Still, Rorschach refused to let his circumstances interfere with his independence. He was excused from fraternity dues and got himself appointed the group’s librarian so he could buy new books when needed.


He also had access to at least one subject for scientific experiments: himself. Having read that mood can make your pupils grow bigger or smaller, the teenaged Rorschach found he could contract and dilate his pupils at will. In a dark room, he imagined looking for the light switch and his pupils would get noticeably smaller; outside, in bright afternoon sunlight, he could make them bigger. In another experiment in mind over matter, he tried to transpose the discomfort from a toothache into music, turning the “throbbing” pains into low notes and “sharp” pains into high notes. Once, curious to see how long it was possible to go without food and still work, he fasted for twenty-four hours, sawing and splitting wood all day. He found that if he didn’t work he could fast longer. This was around the time of his father’s remarriage.


There is no payoff from being able to dilate your pupils at will, except the knowledge that you can. These exercises were explorations: Rorschach exerting his will on himself, like his father, who could overcome his lisp or tremor “when he tried.” He was testing his limits, investigating how his different “systems”—food and work, pain and music, mind and eye—fit together and could be put under conscious control. Another experience he found thought provoking:




I have a rather bad musical memory, so when I am learning a tune I can rely very little on auditory memory images. I often use the optical image of the notes as a way to remember the melody; other times, when I was younger, taking violin lessons, it often happened that I could not imagine the sound of a passage but could still play it from memory, or in other words, the movement memory was more reliable than the auditory one. I have also often used imitation finger movements as a way to awaken auditory memories.





Rorschach was immensely interested in these transformations from one kind of experience into another.


He was also interested in putting himself in others’ shoes, making their experiences his own. On July 4, 1903, at age eighteen, Rorschach gave the talk that Scaphusia members were expected to give to their peers: his was called “Women’s Emancipation,” a full-throated plea for full gender equality. Women, he argued, were “neither physically, intellectually, or morally inferior by nature to men,” were no less logical and at least as brave. They did not exist to “manufacture children” any more than men were merely “a pension fund to pay women’s bills.” Making reference to the century-long history of the women’s movement and to laws and social structures in other countries, including the United States, he advocated for full voting rights and access to university and professions, particularly medicine, since “women would rather reveal their intimate illnesses to another woman.” He strengthened his arguments with wit and empathy, pointing out that while bluestockings horrified the older generation, “a male intellectual show-off is a sour and repellent figure too.” As for women’s alleged gossipy talkativeness, “The question is whether there is more chit-chat at a coffee klatsch or at a bar,” that is, among women or men. He wondered if “we” weren’t as ridiculous as “they” were—trying, as he often did, to see himself from the outside.


Naturally, Ulrich’s son contributed numerous artworks to the Scaphusia scrapbook. A page of violin sheet music with klexy cats frolicking up and down the staff in place of notes was a pun, since cacophonous, screechy music is called “cat music” in German. A face-off between two people in silhouette, captioned A Picture Without Words, was also signed “Klex.” Rorschach’s artworks outside the Scaphusia scrapbook included a finely detailed charcoal drawing of his maternal grandfather, dated 1903 and copied from a small photograph (see here). Expressive faces and gestures interested him more than static objects or textures. In one picture, a student’s clothes and furniture are less convincing than his posture; his cigar smoke doesn’t look like smoke but it curls like smoke.
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From the Scaphusia scrapbook, signed “Klex,” a modified copy of Cat Symphony, by Austrian artist Moritz von Schwind. Rorschach simplified the image, removing many of the cats/notes. While some of the cats look a bit mousier, the picture as a whole has a livelier movement.








Another of Rorschach’s Scaphusia lectures, “Poetry and Painting,” called for better training in how to see. In the timeless fashion of teenagers everywhere, he criticized his school: “There is a lack of understanding of visual art among the people, even among the educated class, a shortcoming that can be traced to our education. . . . One looks in vain for art history courses in our Gymnasium curriculum, yet the child can think artistically as much as some adults.” He also gave three talks on Darwin and our relationship to nature. Darwin was not studied in school, so the lectures were doing real educational work, and again Rorschach focused on seeing. Addressing the question of whether Darwinism should be taught to children, Klex answered, according to the minutes of the meeting, “decidedly in the affirmative. For only through accurate treatment of these themes, adapted to the child’s understanding, does the young person learn ‘to see nature.’ Only in this way will his motivation for observing be stimulated. Only in this way will a genuine joy of nature be awakened in the eyes of the young.” What mattered was how to see, and see with joy. Rorschach ended his talk with an appreciation of another artist: “Darwin’s great disciple on German soil, Haeckel.” Illustrating his talk with pictures from Haeckel’s Art Forms in Nature, he “drew particular attention to how Haeckel, with his method of natural observation, possessed a sharp eye for the art forms in Nature.”


Ernst Haeckel (1834–1919) was one of the most famous scientists in the world. A recent biographer writes that “more people learned of evolutionary theory through his voluminous publications than through any other source,” including Darwin’s own work; The Origin of Species sold fewer than forty thousand copies in thirty years, while Haeckel’s popularization The Riddle of the Universe sold more than six hundred thousand in German alone, as well as being translated into languages from Sanskrit to Esperanto. Gandhi himself wanted to translate it into Gujarati, believing it “the scientific antidote to the deadly wars of religion plaguing India.” Aside from popularizing Darwin, Haeckel’s scientific accomplishments included naming thousands of species—3,500 after just one of his polar expeditions—correctly predicting where fossils of the “missing link” between man and ape would be found, formulating the concept of ecology, and pioneering embryology. His theory that the development of the individual retraces the development of the species—“Ontogeny recapitulates phylogeny”—was enormously influential in both biology and popular culture.


Haeckel was also an artist. An aspiring landscape painter in his youth, he eventually combined art and science in luxuriously illustrated works. Darwin praised Haeckel on both counts, calling his breakthrough two-volume book “the most magnificent works which I have ever seen” and his Natural History of Creation “one of the most remarkable books of our time.”


Art Forms in Nature, which Rorschach used to illustrate his Scaphusia talk, was a visual compendium of structure and symmetry throughout the natural world, suggesting harmonies between amoebae, jellyfish, crystals, and all sorts of higher forms. Published in book form in 1904, though the hundred illustrations were originally published in ten sets of ten between 1899 and 1904, it was popular and influential in both science and art, creating a kind of visual vocabulary for Art Nouveau while superimposing that vision onto nature. The fact that horizontally symmetrical forms look “organic” to us is partly a legacy of his way of seeing. Art Forms in Nature was a household showpiece in German-speaking Europe and beyond; the Rorschachs surely owned at least some of the illustrations. Ulrich’s “Outline of a Theory of Form,” though it doesn’t mention Haeckel by name, is practically a prose analogue to Haeckel’s book, filled with his vocabulary of “forms.”
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Two of the black-and-white images from Ernst Haeckel, Art Forms in Nature: “Brittle Stars” and “Moths,” engraved by Adolf Giltsch after Haeckel’s drawings.
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Ulrich Rorschach, design.








Also central to Haeckel’s reputation was his crusade against religion. It was likely due in large part to Haeckel’s personal antireligious activism that Darwinism became the ultimate atheistic science, at the heart of the feud between science and religion, even though geology and astronomy and other fields of knowledge contain equally nonbiblical facts. This, too, Hermann admired. Like his father, he was a tolerant freethinker on matters of faith but refused to see the natural world through religious eyes. In one of his Darwin talks, according to the Scaphusia secretary, “Klex tried to dismiss completely the argument against Darwinism that it undermines Christian morality and the meaning of the Bible.”


Already working as a tutor, Rorschach was considering becoming a teacher like his father but was uneasy about being required to teach religion. He took the unusual step of writing to Haeckel for advice, and the eminent anti-Christian wrote back, “Your misgivings seem misplaced to me. . . . Read my Monistic Religion, a compromise with the official church. Hundreds of my students do this. One must diplomatically make one’s peace with the reigning orthodoxy (unfortunately!).”


The seventeen-year-old’s bold overture was later exaggerated into something more. In the recollections of several people close to Rorschach, he had asked Haeckel whether to study drawing in Munich or pursue a career in medicine, and the great man advised science. It is unlikely that Rorschach would have put his whole future in a stranger’s hands, and there seems to have been only the one letter to Haeckel. Yet a founding myth for Rorschach’s career was born. A practical question about teaching had been turned into a symbolic choice between art and science, and the most influential artist-scientist of the older generation had passed the baton to the artist-psychologist of the new one.
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I Want to Read People


AS FAR AS I’M CONCERNED, that whole blister on the mountainside could slide into the lake with a crash and the smell of brimstone, as Sodom and Gomorrah did in olden times”—Rorschach was not a fan of Neuchâtel, in French-speaking western Switzerland, where he spent several months after graduating from high school in March 1904. Many German-speaking Swiss took a semester before starting university to improve their French; Rorschach wanted to be able to give French lessons as well as tutor in Latin, to send money home to his family. He was desperate to go straight to Paris, but his rigid stepmother refused to let him. Compared to Schaffhausen, where Rorschach had felt like “a real ‘scholar,’ ” the Académie de Neuchâtel was tedious: “There was nowhere stupider I could have ended up than that dreary mish-mash of Germany and France.”


The Académie’s one advantage was its two-month language course in Dijon, France. There, Rorschach made occasional trips to the legal French brothels, which he was mostly too poor to make use of. “Aug. 30,” he scribbled in his private diary, with key passages further concealed in shorthand: “Visit to the Maison de tolérance: red lanterns in the narrow alley, dark, nice house . . . the whores all around, [illegible]; tu me paye un bock? Tu vas coucher avec moi? [Buy me a beer? Are you going to sleep with me?].”


It was also in Dijon that Rorschach’s interests took a decisive turn. Inspired by the Russian writers he had read in Schaffhausen, he sought out Russians for company: “Everyone knows the Russians learn foreign languages easily,” he reported to Anna, and, more important to a young man abroad on his own, “They like to talk and they make friends easily.” He soon grew interested in one man in particular, a political reformer and “personal friend” of Tolstoy’s. “This good fellow has gray hair already,” Rorschach wrote, “and not for nothing.”


Ivan Mikhailovich Tregubov, born in 1858, had been exiled from Russia and, like Rorschach, was in Dijon for the French course. Rorschach called him “a very deep soul” and wrote, “I hope to profit further from my acquaintance with him.” Tregubov was not just a personal friend of Tolstoy’s but at the heart of his inner circle, as a leader of the Dukhobors, the extreme pacifist sect that Tolstoy had been involved with for decades. This was Rorschach’s first encounter with such a traditionalist spiritual movement. Russia had long been swept by them—from Old Believers, Flagellants, Hermits, and Wanderers to Jumpers, Milk-Drinkers, and Self-Castrators—all without civil rights until the 1905 Revolution and more or less harassed or suppressed by the tsarist church and state. The Dukhobors were one of the most venerable of these groups, dating back at least to the mid-eighteenth century.


In 1895, Tolstoy called the Dukhobors “a phenomenon of extraordinary importance,” so advanced that they were “people of the 25th century”; he compared their influence with the appearance of Jesus on earth. In 1897, four years before the awarding of the first Nobel Peace Prize, Tolstoy wrote an open letter to a Swedish editor arguing that Nobel’s money should go to the Dukhobors, and he came out of self-imposed retirement to write his last novel, Resurrection, so that he could give all of the proceeds to the sect. By that point, Tolstoy was not merely the author of Anna Karenina and War and Peace but a spiritual leader advocating “the purification of the soul.” He inspired people around the world to wear simple white robes, turn vegetarian, and work for peace—to become Tolstoyans. What he represented, to Rorschach and millions of others, was not merely literature but a moral crusade to heal the world.


Tregubov opened Rorschach’s eyes. “It is finally becoming clear to this young Swiss man,” he wrote from Dijon, describing himself in the third person, “to someone who in general couldn’t care less about politics, what politics really means—especially thanks to the Russians, who have to study so far away from home in order to find the freedom they need.” Before long Rorschach would write, “I think we will see it turn out that Russia will be the freest country in the world, freer than our Switzerland.” He started to learn Russian, apparently mastering the language in two years without taking classes.


It was in this context that Rorschach found his calling. He already wanted to be a doctor if he could—“I want to know if it wouldn’t have been possible to help Father,” Anna recalled him saying. But in Dijon he learned that “I never again want to read just books, the way I did in Schaffhausen. I want to read people. . . . What I want is to work at a madhouse. That is no reason not to get a complete training as a doctor, but the most interesting thing in nature is the human soul, and the greatest thing a person can do is to heal these souls, sick souls.” His pursuit of psychology was rooted not mainly in professional or intellectual ambitions but in a Tolstoyan impulse to heal souls and an affinity with Russians such as Tregubov. When Rorschach left the blister on the mountainside, it was to pursue his studies at a world-class school of psychiatric medicine with one of the largest communities of Russians in Europe.


RORSCHACH HAD FINALLY been able to scrape together enough money to go to university. Because his father had been a citizen of two Swiss cities, Arbon and Schaffhausen, Hermann could apply for financial aid from both: in concrete terms, this was the greatest gift his parents’ mobility would ever give him. In the fall of 1904, a few weeks shy of his twentieth birthday, Hermann showed up in Zurich with a handcart of belongings and less than a thousand francs to his name.


He was five foot ten, slim and athletic. He tended to walk quickly and purposefully, hands clasped behind his back, and to talk quietly and calmly; he was lively, serious, nimble with his fingers whether sketching out quick drawings or making meticulous cutouts or wood carvings. His eyes were light blue, almost gray, though the color is listed as “brown” or “brown-gray” in some official documents, such as his military-service record, the booklet that every Swiss male keeps for life. Hermann would be declared unfit to serve, like many young men superfluous in a country with universal military service. The reason given was poor eyesight: 20/200 in his left eye.


Rorschach had left his birthplace of Zurich too young to remember living there, but he had returned on visits with his parents. In his first letter to Anna after arriving in 1904, Rorschach wrote that he “went to two art exhibits yesterday, thinking again about our dear father. A few days ago, I also went looking for a little bench I used to sit on with him, and I found it.” But a new life replaced the memories soon enough.


He had planned to stay at an inn run by a family friend, helping out with chores in exchange for rent, but took a classmate’s advice and moved in to more independent lodgings. A dentist and his wife were renting out two bright and spacious spare rooms on the fourth floor of Weinplatz 3, steps away from the Limmat River running through the center of Zurich (and, as it happens, on the site of ancient Roman baths from Zurich’s previous life as “Turicum”). Rorschach rented the rooms with a fellow medical student from Schaffhausen and a music student. They set up a common bedroom and a workspace and shared books—which “I get more out of than they do,” Rorschach admitted. The medical student, Franz Schwerz, woke up at 4 a.m. to go to anatomy class and was asleep by nine at night, while the musician was out on evenings and weekends; Rorschach could do his work later in the mornings and at night. His only complaint was that his bedroom window was right under the tower of St. Peter’s Church, with the largest church clock in Europe; the bells woke him up.


But it was cheap, seventy-seven francs a month including two meals a day, which Schwerz remembered as delicious and enormous and which Rorschach told his stepmother were “very good, almost exactly like your home cooking.” (Zurich housing generally ran four francs a day at least, and an affordable restaurant lunch was one franc.) The students were responsible for their own lunch on Sundays, so on Saturday night they would buy Schübling sausages from the butcher shop around the corner and roast them in the apartment the next morning, filling the building’s stairway with a smell that worked up their appetite. There was little to do on weekends but walk the city streets, good weather or bad—they could afford no bars, no movies, no theater. The roommates would often “return home bored and frozen, to dig into sausage number two.”


Every opportunity to earn some extra money was welcome. When Rorschach, an extra in the student theater, remembered that the student union was sponsoring a contest for theater posters, he dashed off a caricature of a professor, adding a rhyming couplet underneath from Wilhelm Busch’s children’s book about a mole; two weeks later, ten much-needed francs arrived in the mail: Third Prize.


Despite a punishing schedule at one of the best medical schools in the world—ten courses in his first winter semester (October 1904 to April 1905) and another twelve his first summer semester (April to August 1905)—Rorschach did not keep his nose entirely to the grindstone. His best friend at the university, Walter von Wyss, remembered Rorschach as a voracious reader, curious about everything. There was time for art, conversation, and browsing at the excellent used bookstores in “Athens on the Limmat,” as Zurich was called.


Rorschach often spent the long Saturday afternoons at the Künstlergütli, Zurich’s only public art museum, across the river and up the short hill toward the university. He and his friends explored the galleries of mostly Swiss and not yet modern art: peasant scenes by nineteenth-century Switzerland’s Norman Rockwell, a genre painter named Albert Anker; nature scenes by the neo-Romantic Paul Robert; sentimental works like Old Monk of the Hermitage by Carl Spitzweg. The collection included realist master Rudolf Koller’s most famous painting, the exceptionally dynamic St. Gotthard Mail Coach, and a River Scene by Zurich’s greatest writer and Rorschach’s favorite poet, Gottfried Keller. A few works pointed the way to the future: Ferdinand Hodler’s Procession of Gymnasts, a nightmarish War by Art Nouveau pioneer and proto-Surrealist Arnold Böcklin, who had been one of the subjects of Rorschach’s high school “Poetry and Painting” talk.


In the conversations afterward, Rorschach took the lead and asked his friends about how they saw the art. He liked to compare the different effects each piece had on each person. Böcklin’s outrageously psychosexual Spring Awakening, with its hairy, pipe-playing, goat-footed satyr, a topless woman in a red skirt towering over the landscape, and a river of blood between them: What might this be?


Rorschach was starting to categorize people while priding himself on remaining individual. After passing his preliminary exams with flying colors in April 1906—“I was the only one who took them after four semesters,” he bragged to Anna, “the others had five, six, seven, eight, but two five-semester students and I got the best results”—he cast a cold eye over his classmates:




I was especially happy because I’d been doing quite a lot “different” before and during the exams, although I did work a lot. There is a very common type among medical students, you know: someone who drinks beer, almost never reads the newspaper, and whenever he wants to say anything respectable talks only about illnesses and professors; who prides himself on frightfully much, especially the job he is planning to land, who thinks fondly in advance about a rich wife and a fancy car and a walking stick with a silver handle; this type finds it very unpleasant when someone else does things “differently” and can pass his exams anyway.





Many sensitive twenty-one-year-olds have had such thoughts, but this was not a letter Rorschach would have written without his Dijon experiences.


The most obvious sign of his “difference” was the time he spent with the exotic foreigners in the city. Zurich was full of Russians, with Switzerland’s political freedom attracting countless anarchists and revolutionaries. Vladimir Lenin lived there in exile between 1900 and 1917, and preferred Zurich to Bern because of “the large number of revolutionary-minded young foreigners in Zurich,” not to mention the excellent libraries, with “no red tape, fine catalogues, open stacks, and the exceptional interest taken in the reader”: a model for the future Soviet society. There was a “Little Russia” neighborhood near the University of Zurich, with Russian boardinghouses, bars, and restaurants: as the respectable Swiss put it, the debates in Little Russia ran hot and the meals were served cold.


In Rorschach’s time, half of the more than a thousand university students were foreign, many of them women. Two Swiss women had studied philosophy in Zurich in the 1840s, paving the way for women to study medicine there as early as the 1860s. The first woman ever to get a doctorate in medicine, in 1867, was a Russian in Zurich: Nadezhda Suslova. Meanwhile, Russian universities continued to exclude women until 1914, German universities until 1908.


These foreigners were, in turn, the majority of female students in Zurich, because Swiss fathers wouldn’t let their well-bred daughters mingle with the riffraff. Emma Rauschenberg, the Schaffhausen heiress and Carl Jung’s future wife, had graduated first in her high school class but was not allowed to study science at the University of Zurich: “It was simply unthinkable for the daughter of a Rauschenbach even to contemplate mingling with the great variety of students who enrolled in the university,” according to a recent biographer of Carl Jung. “Who could predict what ideas a girl like Emma would assimilate from being in such company. . . . A university education would make her unfit for marriage to a social equal.” Russian women flocked to Zurich, though, braving not only the sexism of male Swiss students and professors but also protests from the few Swiss women students that this “wave” of “semi-Asian invaders” was stealing spots from more deserving locals and turning the university into a “Slavic finishing school.”


When not being caricatured as bluestockings or wild-eyed revolutionaries, Russian women in Zurich were often worshipped as beauties. One raven-haired Russian named Braunstein was known around Zurich as “the Christmas angel”; strangers came up to her on the street to ask to take her photograph, but she always refused. When some chemistry students invited her to the annual department party, they addressed the envelope with a street name and “MnO2”—the chemical formula for manganese dioxide, or in German, Braunstein—and the zealous mailmen did not rest until they found her. She still declined. Rorschach, who wanted to draw her portrait, succeeded where others had failed by inviting her and a friend up to his rooms with the promise to show them a handwritten letter from Leo Tolstoy. He spoke passable Russian, respected Russian women in a hostile environment, and presumably his looks didn’t hurt. That Saturday afternoon, the art at the museum was neglected and an easel was set up at Weinplatz 3 instead.


The Russians in Zurich were a diverse group. Some were young, some older; some truly were revolutionaries, like one female classmate who had been forced to flee through Siberia to Japan, eventually returning by ship to Europe the long way around, while others were “thoroughly bourgeois, modest, hardworking, and anxious to avoid politics.” Some were rich, like Jung’s patient, student, colleague, and mistress Sabina Spielrein, who came to Zurich in 1904, like Rorschach. Some were poor, including a pharmacist’s daughter from Kazan named Olga Vasilyevna Shtempelin.


LIKE HERMANN, OLGA was the oldest of three children, forced by circumstances into the role of head of the family. She was born to Wilhelm Karlovitch and Yelizaveta Matveyevna Shtempelin on June 8, 1878, in Buinsk, near Kazan, a center for trade on the Volga River and the Russian empire’s “gateway to the East.” Although girls’ schools in Russia were for the daughters of the wealthy, she had been able to study for free at Kazan’s Rodionov Institute for Girls, a perk stemming from her great-grandfather’s services in the military. She arrived in Berlin in 1902, took time off to work and support her family, and transferred to the Zurich medical school in 1905. She would be remembered by those who knew her in Zurich as by far the smartest in her class.


In early September 1906, Rorschach gave his sister Anna a striking description of Olga’s background and character. “My Russian friends have mostly gone home” after the summer semester, but




one woman I met recently, around two months ago, is leaving now. I have often thought that she in particular is someone you should meet: she is all alone on her path through life, and once, when she was twenty, she had to support her whole family for a year and a half, with tutoring and copying documents: a sick father, her mother, and two siblings. Now she is in her last year of medical school, about to turn twenty-six, full of life and high spirits, and when she graduates she wants to go be a doctor in a peasant village, far away from all higher-class people, and cure sick peasants until maybe some of them beat her to death. Would you have ever imagined there are lives like these?—This pride, this courage, that is what distinguishes Russian women.





Noble-minded, talented, histrionic: Hermann captured Olga’s personality from the first. And also not entirely reliable—she was six years older than Hermann, so actually about to turn twenty-eight.


Olga embodied for Rorschach the image of Russia he had formed in Dijon. When Tregubov had returned to Russia and Rorschach lost contact with him, the young student took steps to track him down: “Dear Count Tolstoy,” he wrote in January 1906. “A young man who is worried about a friend of yours hopes you will grant him a few minutes of your time.” Tolstoy’s secretary answered, and contact with Tregubov was reestablished. In the meantime, Rorschach had opened his heart to the great writer:




I have learned to love the Russian people, . . . their contradictory spirit and genuine feelings. . . . I envy them for being so cheerful, and also that they can cry when they are sad. . . . The ability to see and shape the world, like the Mediterranean peoples; to think the world, like the Germans; but to feel the world, like the Slavs—will these powers ever be brought together?





Russianness, for Rorschach, meant feeling: being in touch with strong, genuine emotions, and being able to share them. And “to be understood, from the heart, without formalities and tricks and heaps of erudite words,” he wrote to Tolstoy: “that is what we are all looking for.”


He was far from alone in casting the Russians in this role. Russian novels and plays were astonishing readers from Virginia Woolf to Knut Hamsun to Freud; the Russian ballet was the toast of Paris; the physical immensity of Russia, its combination of semi-European civilization and epic otherness, spiritual depth and political backwardness, inspired awe and anxiety across the Continent. However accurate this vision of a land roiling with passions was or wasn’t, it framed Rorschach’s lifelong desire to be, in his words, understood from the heart.


It was Zurich that made Rorschach’s increasingly intimate cultural and personal connection to Russia possible. At the same time, the question of what it meant to be understood was being investigated all around him. Rorschach’s professors were fighting a battle over the very meaning of the human mind and its desires. Psychiatry was blazing new trails in the first decade of the twentieth century, and Zurich was at the crossroads.
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Extraordinary Discoveries and Warring Worlds


THE PROFESSOR’S COMPACT SILHOUETTE WAS recognizable from a distance. He came hurrying from the hospital at the last minute to arrive at the podium, where he stood five foot three, robustly bearded, intense, bent slightly forward. His movements were angular and jerky, and when he spoke his face was unnaturally lively, almost startling. The lectures covered clinical and laboratory techniques in workmanlike fashion, with frequent recourse to statistics, but also emphasized again and again the importance of emotional rapport with patients. Conscientious, professional, sometimes fussy, he was also unassuming and obviously kind. It was sometimes hard to remember that this was Eugen Bleuler, one of the most highly respected psychiatrists in the world, his methods taught in classrooms throughout Europe and debated by eager students afterward.


Another lecturer in the same department was anything but modest. Tall, impeccably dressed, aristocratic in voice and manner, he was the grandson of an illustrious doctor rumored to be an illegitimate child of the great Goethe. He exuded a seductive mix of confidence and sensitivity, even vulnerability, and arrived early to sit on a bench in the hall where anyone who wanted could come over and talk. His lectures were open to students and nonstudents alike, and their high caliber and broad, engaging range made them so popular that they had to be moved to a bigger auditorium. Before long, he “acquired a devoted, highly visible female following” known as the Zürichberg Fur-Coat Ladies, named after the richest neighborhood in the city, who “marched with poise and self-assurance into his every lecture, commandeering the best seats and thereby earning the enmity of the students, who had to stand at the rear.” And that was before the Ladies started inviting him to private discussion groups in their homes. The daughter of one such Lady dismissed the professor’s fan base as “sex-starved groupies or postmenopausal hysterics.”


Instead of offering dry statistics and instructing future practitioners in laboratory techniques, Carl Jung talked about family dynamics and human stories, often cases of women like the ones in his audience. He implied, even said outright, that their own “secret stories” held the key to more truth than the doctors could find on their own. The message was thrilling; his penetrating insight at times seemed almost magical.


These were Rorschach’s teachers, shaping not only his own trajectory but the future of psychology.


ZURICH IN THE first decade of the twentieth century was at the center of an enormous transformation in the understanding and treatment of mental illness. As the century began, the field was deeply split between respect for subjective inner experience and an effort to achieve scientific respectability by focusing on objective data and general laws. There were scientists known as “psychopathologists,” often French, who set out to explore the mind, and others, often German, pursuing so-called “psychophysics,” preferring to dissect the brain. This professional and geographical divide overlapped, but not entirely, with an institutional divide between psychiatrists, usually based in hospitals or clinics, and psychologists, in university labs. Psychiatrists tried to cure patients, psychologists studied subjects. There was crossover, and the greatest advances in psychology often came from practicing psychiatrists—Freud and Jung, for example, were psychiatrists and medical doctors. But psychiatrists were doctors, with an MD; psychologists were research scientists, with a PhD.


Despite advances in neurology and disease classification, a nineteenth-century psychiatrist could do almost nothing to help people. This was somewhat true of medicine in general—no antibiotics, no anesthesia, no insulin. Describing a slightly earlier doctor, Janet Malcolm points out that “medicine in Chekhov’s day did not have the power to cure that it has only recently begun to wield. Doctors understood diseases they were helpless to cure. An honest doctor would have found his work largely depressing.” Psychiatry was in even worse shape.


Outside of medicine, the very borders between science and the humanities were being redrawn. Should the goal of psychology be to scientifically define a condition, with lists of symptoms and laws of how diseases progress, or to more humanistically understand a unique individual and his or her suffering? In practical terms: Was an aspiring young psychologist supposed to study science or philosophy? In the early days—before Freud, before modern neuroscience—psychology was generally classified as a branch of philosophy. There was simply no other way to grasp the mind. Medical doctrines, too, largely coincided with religious teachings about virtue and sin, character and self-restraint. Psychiatrists tried to cure cases of demonic possession. Their most advanced technology was mesmerism.


Rorschach was a student when all that was starting to change. Freud had synthesized a theory of the unconscious mind and sexual drives that brought together psychopathology, psychophysics, and a new and effective psychotherapy, at the same time reintegrating the humanities into natural science and redefining the distinction between normality and illness. The apparently meaningless fantasies of psychotic patients were being deciphered, and healed, with methods based on assumptions that seemed incredible to materialistic brain scientists.


When Rorschach entered medical school, though, all Freud had was a couch in Vienna and a narrow range of upper-class neurotics for clients. The Interpretation of Dreams, published in 1899, sold 351 copies, total, in its first six years in print. In terms of scientific and institutional respectability, and the resources and international reputation needed to establish psychoanalysis as a lasting movement, the place that mattered was Zurich.


The University of Zurich medical school was a hybrid institution connected to the Burghölzli: a laboratory, university psychiatric clinic, and teaching hospital opened in 1870 and by Rorschach’s time widely considered the best in the world. It was a large facility run by the canton of Zurich, housing mostly uneducated, lower-class patients suffering from schizophrenia, tertiary syphilis, or other dementias with physical causes. But its directorship was tied to the newly founded chair of psychiatry at the university.


At most universities, prestigious psychiatry professors were brain researchers, with small clinics and a few short-term cases to teach from. But any professor of psychiatry at Zurich, as the historian John Kerr writes, would be in charge of more than a hundred patients, mostly incurable. And they were locals, speaking Low German or the Zurich dialect of Swiss German: the professor literally could not understand their language. Not surprisingly, a series of clinic directors quickly jumped ship, and while the university professorship gained in stature, the Burghölzli was soon “better known locally for the brothel situated on the far side of its grounds” than for its hospital. It started to improve under director Auguste Forel, but even he took early retirement. In 1898, he passed the position to a man named Eugen Bleuler (1857–1939, Freud’s exact contemporary).


Bleuler was from Zollikon, a farming village outside Zurich adjacent to the Burghölzli. His father and grandfather had been part of the struggle in the 1830s to win equal rights for farmers and establish the University of Zurich in the first place. Bleuler was the second person from his village ever to graduate university and the first to attend medical school. Throughout his life, he remained deeply conscious of his rustic appearance and background, and also of the class struggle and political organizing that had made his career possible. Crucially, he spoke the local language, so he could understand what his patients were saying.


The prevailing wisdom was that the kind of people under Bleuler’s care were hopeless. In the words of Emil Kraepelin, the psychiatrist who had given the name dementia praecox to what is now called schizophrenia: “We know now that the fate of our patient is determined mainly by the development of the disease; we can rarely alter the course of the disease. We must openly admit that the vast majority of the patients placed in our institutions are forever lost.” Even more brutally: “The great mass of uncured patients piling up in our mental institutions belongs to dementia praecox, whose clinical picture is marked above all by the more or less far-reaching collapse of the personality.” They “belonged to” the disease. Freud, too, had said that these patients were unreachable. But Bleuler, down in the trenches, learned otherwise. The line between mental illness and health was not as hard and fast as his university colleagues believed, and seeing patients as a “great mass” “piling up” was part of the problem.


Before becoming director of the Burghölzli, Bleuler had lived for twelve years at the largest asylum in Switzerland, an island monastery-hospital (originally a twelfth-century basilica) called Rheinau, with six to eight hundred patients. There and at the Burghölzli, Bleuler immersed himself in the world of the seriously psychotic, visiting the wards up to six times a day and talking to unresponsive catatonics for hours. He gave his assistants enormous workloads, typically eighty-hour weeks—morning rounds before 8:30, writing up case histories after the evening rounds, often until 10:00 or 11:00—and enforced monastic celibacy and abstinence from alcohol. The doctors and staff slept in large shared bedrooms, with very few exceptions. They couldn’t complain, since Bleuler worked harder than any of them.


By living in such close contact with his patients, Bleuler realized that they had more nuanced, less compulsive reactions to their environments than had been thought. For instance, they behaved differently with different relatives, or with members of the opposite sex. Biological determinism could not completely explain their symptoms. Nor were they doomed, at least not necessarily—even the progression of the most severe cases could sometimes be halted, or reversed, if doctors developed good personal relationships with patients. Bleuler would suddenly discharge patients who seemed severely ill, or invite a particularly violent patient to a formal dinner at his house. He pioneered work therapy and other “reality-oriented tasks”—chopping firewood, caring for fellow patients who had typhus—for chronic cases long thought hopeless, resulting in cures that seemed little short of miraculous. When his schizophrenic patients were working the fields he would join them, doing work familiar to him from his youth in Zollikon. Bleuler devoted his life to establishing an emotional connection with everyone in his care. Both the patients and the staff tended to call him “Father.”


It was Bleuler who named the disease schizophrenia—his most well-known contribution to science, along with inventing the terms autism, depth psychology, and ambivalence. He did this because Kraepelin’s earlier label, dementia praecox, means “early-onset loss of mind,” something biological and irreversible, whereas “a split mind” (the meaning of schizophrenia) is not hopelessly lost: it may still have functioning, living powers. Bleuler also wrote that he wanted a new term because there is no way to use dementia praecox as an adjective. In his view, illness should not be a medical object—a noun in Latin—but one way among many to describe a particular, human sufferer.


This empathy for patients had personal roots: when Bleuler was seventeen, his sister had developed catatonia and was hospitalized near their village at the Burghölzli. The family was outraged at brain doctors who seemed, as the locals said, more interested in microscopes than people and who couldn’t even speak her language. Bleuler decided, or in some versions of the story his mother inspired him, to become a psychiatrist who could truly understand his patients. While he never wrote or spoke publicly about his sister Anna-Paulina’s illness, her decisive influence on him is undeniable. One of Bleuler’s assistants at the Burghölzli in 1907 and 1908 recalled: “Bleuler often told us that even the most serious catatonics can be influenced by verbal persuasion. He gave his own sister as an example. . . . One time, Bleuler had to get her to leave the building while she was in a state of acute excitement. He refused to use force and . . .  talked to her for hours and hours, until eventually she put on her clothes and left with him. Bleuler used this example as proof that verbal persuasion was possible.”


She lived with him in his apartment at the Burghölzli for almost thirty years, from their parents’ death in 1898 until her death in 1926. His assistant recalled: “I could see her monotonously pacing back and forth all day long from my room across the hall. Bleuler’s children were very young at the time, and they did not seem to notice his sister. Whenever they wanted to climb up anywhere, they simply used her like an inanimate object, like a chair. She showed no reaction whatsoever, no emotional relationship at all with the children.” Bleuler had lived face to face with extreme schizophrenia for decades before the term existed, and during his entire career at the Burghölzli he had a living example of the schizophrenic’s humanity right there in the room. His pioneering efforts began at home.


Of course, every generation sets out to correct the mistakes of the previous one; psychiatrists regularly accuse their predecessors of being heartless or at least misguided. In fact, psychiatrists before Bleuler, from Forel to Kraepelin to the father of brain-centered psychiatry, Wilhelm Griesinger, were by all accounts sympathetic and caring doctors too. But the Burghölzli truly was different. Bleuler’s assistant recalls: “The way they looked at the patient, the way they examined him, was almost like a revelation. They did not simply classify the patient. They took his hallucinations, one by one, and tried to determine what each meant, and just why the patient had these particular delusions. . . . To me, that was altogether new and revealing.” The transformation toward patient-centered care didn’t start at the Burghölzli, or end there, but Bleuler mentored generations of psychiatrists, both students and assistants—including his son Manfred, Carl Jung and Sabina Spielrein, two of Rorschach’s later bosses, and Rorschach himself. If it is unthinkable today that a psychiatrist would be unable to speak his patient’s language, that is largely thanks to Eugen Bleuler.


CARL JUNG ARRIVED at the Burghölzli in December 1900, to work as Bleuler’s assistant. He set about becoming the prominent, then preeminent, figure who would repeatedly transform the field of psychology in the decades to come.


Starting in 1902, Jung and the Burghölzli’s other assistant doctor, Franz Riklin, developed the first experimental method to reveal patterns in the unconscious: the word association test. Subjects were read a list of a hundred prompt-words and were asked to say the first thing that came into their heads, while the doctor timed their responses with a stopwatch; then they went through the list again and were asked to remember their initial responses. Any aberrations—long delays, memory lapses during the second round, surprising non sequiturs, getting “stuck” and repeating responses—could be explained only by unconscious acts of memory and repression, a kind of hidden black hole pulling and warping the person’s answers toward concealed desires, or prompting feints in the opposite direction. Jung called these hidden centers “complexes.” The test found, empirically, that most of them were sexual.


With this, the Burghölzli doctors had made an “unprecedented and extraordinary” discovery. Independent of Freud—and doing something entirely unlike letting a neurotic ramble on a couch—they had succeeded in producing concrete proof of unconscious processes at work, in “normal” people no less than in the mentally ill. They immediately recognized that their results had confirmed Freud, and before long the word association test was being incorporated into psychoanalysis, as doctors improvised stimulus-words to pursue certain lines of thought or used the complexes they found as starting points for therapy. The method had tremendous potential in criminology. Jung and Riklin had created the modern psychological test.


What erupted next at the Burghölzli was nothing less than an orgy of testing, with doctors stopwatching, dream-interpreting, and psychoanalyzing their patients, their wives, their children, one another, themselves. They jumped on every sign of the unconscious they could find: every slip of the tongue or pen, lapse of memory, absentmindedly hummed tune. For years, “that was how we got to know one another,” Bleuler wrote. His oldest child, Manfred (born in 1903), and Jung’s oldest, Agathe (born a year later), both recalled feeling under total psychoanalytic observation as children. Publications on the word association experiment included anonymized results from Bleuler, Bleuler’s wife, her mother and sister, and Jung himself.
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